

Report 1997:8

Center for International Climate and Environmental Research - Oslo

Differentiation, Leaders and Fairness

Negotiating Climate Commitments in the European Community

Lasse Ringius



ISSN: 0804-4562

Report 1997:8

Differentiation, Leaders and Fairness

Negotiating Climate Commitments in the European Community

Lasse Ringius

[']Differentiation, Leaders, and Fairness: Negotiating Climate Commitments in the European Community'. Forthcoming in *International Negotiation* vol. 4, no. 2 (Summer 1999)

CICERO

Center for International Climate and Environmental Research - Oslo P.O. Box 1129 Blindern N-0317 Oslo, Norway Phone: (+47) 22 85 87 50 Fax: (+47) 22 85 87 51 E-mail: admin@cicero.uio.no Web: www.cicero.uio.no

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1 INTRODUCTION | 5 |
|--|----|
| 2 THE EC CLIMATE POLICY NEGOTIATING POSITION OF MARCH 1997 | 6 |
| 3 SYMMETRICAL VIS-À-VIS DIFFERENTIATED ENVIRONMENTAL | |
| AGREEMENTS | 8 |
| 4 EC CLIMATE POLICY AND BURDEN SHARING | 15 |
| 5 "TOWARDS A EUROPEAN CONSENSUS " IN DUBLIN | 18 |
| 6 THE TRIPTIQUE APPROCH | 20 |
| 7 THE ZEIST WORKSHOP | 24 |
| 8 THE EC ENVIRONMENT COUNCIL MEETING | 26 |
| 9 FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION | 33 |
| 10 BUILDING DIFFERENTIATED CLIMATE REGIMES | 41 |
| 11 CONCLUSIONS | 44 |
| 12 APPENDIX 1 | 46 |
| 13 REFERENCES | 47 |

ABSTRACT

This report shows that it is possible to negotiate and reach asymmetrical environmental agreements that take into account significant national dissimilarities. The report argues that analytical models and intuitively appealing model-based quantitative indicators of national circumstances can establish premises for negotiations leading to differentiated environmental agreements. While they cannot take the place of political negotiation, they help identify a formula that defines the problem in a resolvable fashion and prevent the bargaining space from expanding uncontrollably. Scholars arguing that symmetrical environmental measures are widely used because they simplify negotiations and prevent countries from pursuing extremist positions, and that salient focal points are significant in negotiation, overlook this argument. In pre-Kyoto European Community climate policy, which this article empirically examines, high transaction costs and EC member states' ability to block economically hurtful agreements were not essential issues.

1 INTRODUCTION

Global environmental problems are unintended consequences of economic development, environmentally damaging technology, and population increase. As the global climate protocol negotiations have shown, international environmental negotiations and environmental treaties will increasingly need to take into account present and future national dissimilarities in terms of wealth, economic structure, energy basis, population, emphasis on environmental protection and perhaps other issues as well. The symmetrical approach widely used in international environmental conventions disregards national dissimilarities and might result in inefficient and unfair agreements and country obligations. It may be an obstacle to international environmental cooperation, and government officials and policy analysts have recently become interested in differentiated agreements reflecting present and future national dissimilarities. The achievement of fairness and the need for fair burden sharing have also been prominent issues in global climate negotiations and many believe that differentiation is preferable compared to the routinely followed symmetrical approach.

This report analyzes the recent climate policy negotiations within the European Community (EC) that in March 1997 produced an agreement among the EC member states on a differentiated or asymmetric negotiating position.¹ Although differentiation is generally considered unlikely to happen, this group of fifteen countries did manage to differentiate their national environmental commitments and attempted to equitably share the economic burden of climate protection. This successful attempt to differentiate raises a number of questions: Who are the key actors in international processes of differentiation? How do they facilitate the process of differentiation? How is a differentiation process best structured? How are essential issues resolved? The EC climate policy decision of March 1997 offers a good opportunity to begin exploring these important issues.

I first briefly describe the EC decision of March 1997 to differentiate climate policy targets among member states. Then follows a discussion of the advantages and disadvantages of symmetrical and differentiated environmental agreements, in particular in the context of climate policy. After the empirical study of the EC negotiations producing the decision of March 1997, the empirical findings will be analyzed. I will finally discuss

5

how differentiation could be achieved and how burden sharing arrangements are best designed in the light of the EC experience. Hopefully the final section will draw useful lessons on how differentiation of burdens of climate and environmental protection more generally could be achieved in the future.

2 THE EC CLIMATE POLICY NEGOTIATING POSITION OF MARCH 1997

The parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (FCCC) agreed at the first Conference of Parties (COP-1), which took place in Berlin in the spring of 1995, that the existing national commitments in the FCCC to protect the global climate system were inadequate. They needed to be strengthened. Referred to as the Berlin Mandate, it was decided that a protocol, or another legal instrument, specifying abatement targets, policies and measures and time-frames for the industrialized countries should be signed no later than December 1997 when COP-3 would convene in Kyoto, Japan. The EC was an essential actor in the subsequent protocol negotiations and strongly wished to play an "environmental leadership" role.² The EC negotiating process and the differentiated negotiating position reached in March 1997 was thus part of the broader global negotiating process aimed at a Kyoto climate protocol.

Making a political move that greatly surprised many close observers and raised the hopes of the international environmental community, the EC proposed in March 1997 that the OECD countries cut their greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 15 percent in 2010. This became the toughest policy target proposed by industrialized countries in the protocol negotiations. This interim EC decision meant, more precisely, that the member states agreed to a negotiating position to reduce total EC emissions of carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), and nitrous oxide (N₂O) by 15 percent in 2010, compared to the 1990 emission levels.

Environmental ministers from the EC member states agreed furthermore that some member states should reduce their GHG emissions, others should stabilize their GHG

¹ It is the EC, not the EU, which has the legal competence in the area of climate policy. See Macrory and Hession, 1996.

emissions, but that five member states would be allowed to increase their GHG emissions by a certain percent. Thus, a considerable and quite complex differentiation of policy commitments was achieved within the EC. Luxembourg had committed itself to cut emissions by 30 percent; Portugal, however, was allowed a 40 percent rise (see Table 1). It was decided in June 1997 that the total EC GHG emissions should be reduced by 7.5 percent in 2005, relative to the 1990 levels.³

| Country | National emission target |
|-------------|--------------------------|
| Belgium | -10 |
| Denmark | -25 |
| Germany | -25 |
| Greece | +30 |
| Spain | +17 |
| France | 0 |
| Ireland | +15 |
| Italy | -7 |
| Luxembourg | -30 |
| Netherlands | -10 |
| Austria | -25 |
| Portugal | +40 |
| Finland | 0 |
| Sweden | +5 |
| UK | -10 |

Table 1. Changes in emission levels in 2010 relative to 1990 levels (in %) allocated EC member states in March 1997.

Source: Council of the European Union, 7 March 1997.

The EC decision of March 1997 is noteworthy for two reasons. First, as already mentioned, burden sharing was a significant issue both in the EC climate negotiations and the global protocol negotiations. A number of industrialized countries hoped for differentiation of climate policy obligations of all the industrialized countries, not just within the EC. Second, the EC Large Combustion Plant (LCP) directive to limit acid emissions (1987) discussed below is the only prior example of a differentiated agreement reached within the EC. The EC agreement of March 1997 should therefore be considered a historic decision in the context of EC and international climate policy as well as a significant decision in the area of EC environmental policy.

 $^{^2}$ For the development of the "environmental leadership" concept as an element of the EC political response to global warming, see Jachtenfuchs and Huber 1993.

3 SYMMETRICAL VIS-À-VIS DIFFERENTIATED ENVIRONMENTAL AGREEMENTS

International negotiations seldom produce differentiated environmental commitments among industrialized countries.⁴ Reaching international environmental agreements of significance is in itself a demanding and complex task. However, due to national dissimilarities or asymmetries, symmetrical environmental agreements often distribute burdens unevenly across countries. Considerable dissimilarities exist even within a relatively homogeneous group of countries such as the EC. Why, then, do not countries instead differentiate obligations? As discussed below, the explanations for the widespread use of symmetrical environmental agreements basically make two arguments.⁵ First, countries prefer symmetrical agreements. Second, differentiating commitments will often be an insurmountable challenge because of the complexities that are introduced into the negotiation process. Consequently, symmetrical measures are widely used in environmental conventions and treaties, but differentiated agreements will remain exceptions.

Symmetrical agreements seemingly impose similar and equal obligations on those countries that are bound by them. They contain identical behavioral proscriptions and prescriptions for all. The signatories are to take "similar steps", for instance ceasing commercial whaling, adopting the polluter pays principle, or phasing out ozone-depleting substances. Such across-the-board measures treating all countries in the "same way" are well-known examples of the symmetrical approach to national obligations. In the climate policy area, a prominent example is the oft-repeated proposal that all countries should reduce GHGs emissions by the same percent relative to a specified base year.

One advantage of the symmetrical approach is that it reduces information requirements on governments. Negotiating differentiated agreements would become extremely time-consuming and technically complex if many countries were making individual proposals for national and collective obligations. This would result in an extreme expansion of the bargaining space, without guaranteeing that negotiations would be completed successfully. Symmetric agreements would therefore be preferable in

³ Council of the European Union 19/20 June 1997.

⁴ Differentiating between industrialized and developing countries, however, is quite widespread.

situations where differentiation seems technically unfeasible, and when the "route" of differentiation seems uncertain and might lead to unattractive outcomes. During the global protocol negotiations Germany highlighted some well-known concerns about technical feasibility: "We foresee enormous practical difficulties and obstacles in identifying the relevant factors affecting the emissions of different greenhouse gases, in deriving corresponding indicators, in generating reliable and comparable data needed, and, last but not least, in weighting these indicators (...) Parties therefore would come up with very different proposals according to their individual circumstances and capabilities. This approach would mean even more complicated and lengthy negotiations without necessarily ensuring a more equitable outcome."⁶ By contrast, the expectation of a symmetrical agreement imposing equal proportional obligations serves to narrow the bargaining space and focuses negotiations on the common level of reductions that all will be bound by.

In this line, scholars emphasize that high transaction costs make it unlikely that countries will pursue and reach differentiated agreements. Several have underlined that it took five years of negotiation, often twice-weekly and among a quite homogeneous group, to agree on the differentiated targets in the EC LCP directive.⁷ Although primarily examining negotiation strategies for reaching global agreements among industrialized and developing countries, and underlining that differentiation at a global level would encounter even bigger political and technical obstacles, they conclude that countries' ability to block a costly EC climate agreement together with high transaction costs make it most unlikely that the EC could agree to differentiate national climate policy obligations.⁸

Still another advantage is that the symmetrical approach discourages countries from making extreme proposals for differentiated obligations intended to serve their selfinterest by putting heavier burdens on others. By understating their own ability to make necessary changes and overstating the ability of others, countries might hope that a differentiated agreement will be relatively less burdensome for themselves. The presumption of equal measures will discourage use of this self-serving strategy and

⁵ Parson and Zeckhauser 1995.

⁶ German Delegation, 6 March 1996. As an example of an unattractive outcome, the EC opposed differentiation within the OECD in the protocol negotiations because the issue was expected to derail the negotiations and result in a less ambitious climate protocol. The EC did accept OECD-wide differentiation in Kyoto, however.

⁷ Grubb, 1990, 72; Parson and Zeckhauser 1995, 88; Sebenius 1995, 54.

⁸ In addition to the references in footnote (7), see also Wagner 1997, 324-325. Scholars stress the UK's blocking power in the negotiations on the LCP directive. See U.S. Congress 1994, 11.

countries will instead make more reasonable proposals that are acceptable to themselves and, by implication, others similar to them. Unfortunately, this often leads countries to propose and adopt international environmental rules, norms and obligations at the level of the lowest common denominator.

Symmetrical agreements often come about as a result of the pull or "guiding force" which focal points exert on negotiators.⁹ The expectations of governments tend to converge on salient focal points, even when agreement close to a focal point would be preferable from the viewpoint of economic efficiency or scientific knowledge. Environmental treaties therefore typically contain identical round number obligations. One example is the 1987 North Sea Conference's ministerial declaration with respect to land-based marine pollution sources which urges countries to aim for "a substantial reduction (of the order of 50%) in total inputs...between 1985 and 1995."¹⁰

It should be underlined, however, that a symmetrical agreement might not always be as unfair as it first appears to be. Countries that are very concerned about an environmental problem are often willing to pay more relative to less concerned countries. For example, in the early 1970s, industrialized countries were more concerned about ocean dumping than developing countries.¹¹ When it was decided to prohibit ocean dumping of heavy metals, industrialized countries were willing to incur pollution abatement costs, even though developing countries, which did not ocean dump heavy metals, would not incur economic burdens as a result of international agreement. In some situations, the pollution control costs imposed by a symmetrical environmental protection.

Finally, countries might prefer a symmetric agreement if differentiation would unacceptably increase their obligations and create heavier burdens. Differentiation is fundamentally a zero-sum game. Assuming that a group of countries intends to reduce a given total amount of emissions, the less GHG emissions a country reduces, the more emissions others will have to reduce, and vice versa. Consequently, countries are as much concerned about the obligations of others as about their own. Sometimes differentiation

⁹ For focal points, see Shelling 1960, 1980, 70.

¹⁰ Ministerial Declaration 1987, 9.

¹¹ Ringius 1992.

might make it possible to increase coordination benefits that will reduce the net economic costs of differentiation, but it nonetheless largely remains a zero-sum game.¹²

In summary, scholars argue that the rare use of differentiated environmental agreements is a consequence of how symmetric agreements simplify negotiations by reducing the bargaining space. Also countries have a common interest in preventing individual countries from pursuing extremist negotiation positions at the expense of others, and salient focal points have a significant impact on negotiations. With respect to EC climate agreements more specifically, there is general agreement that differentiation of national obligations within the EC would be unlikely due to high transaction costs and member states' ability to block agreements that would hurt them economically.¹³

Ideally, complete differentiation would imply that national obligations perfectly match asymmetries across countries. Seen from the economics viewpoint, it would be optimal if obligations perfectly reflected asymmetrical abatement costs because emissions would then be reduced as cheaply as possible. Moreover, identical abatement cost for all countries, some argue, is the most fair and equitable.¹⁴

The possibility of setting the collective target above the lowest-commondenominator level is another significant advantage of differentiation. Cuts in a few countries might be sufficient to reach a modest common abatement target, but an ambitious target can be achieved only if many countries cut emissions. At the same time, the more GHG emissions a country can reduce, the more it can contribute toward a common goal, and even though small emitter countries contribute only little or nothing, countries contributing considerable amounts of reductions make it possible to raise the target. How much a country contributes basically depends on the population size, the carbon-intensity of the energy system, the structure, the size and the growth of the economy, and the ambitiousness of its climate policy. Large emitters, who often will be significant political and economic actors in their own right, will play a key role. As illustrated by the United States' position in the Kyoto Protocol negotiations, however, it

¹² For example, removal of fossil fuels subsidies would presumably reduce GHG emissions, would be economically beneficial, and international trade distortions might be prevented, if this is done in a coordinated fashion by a group of countries. See, for example, Ruijgrok and Oosterhuis 1997.

¹³ Haigh, however, has outlined a possible "top-down" approach to EC differentiation in which the Commission, possibly in an informal way, sets legally binding targets for member states. "The negotiations may need to be based on some attempt at an objective evaluation of what fair burden sharing should entail." Haigh 1996, 173.

¹⁴ For fairness principles discussed in the context of climate policy, see Ringius, Torvanger, and Meze 1996.

cannot be taken for granted that large emitter countries always are willing and able to "go first" by aggressively cutting emissions. And, evidently, a large emitter country can only offset, but not eliminate, GHG emissions from a small emitter country.

Still another advantage is that differentiation enhances participation, and perhaps cost-effectiveness, in climate agreements. Because of national dissimilarities, countries are not able to contribute equal amounts of GHG emission reductions. Also, their contributions will vary over time. Those countries that are able to reach an ambitious target might want others to make a similar contribution, but it will often be impossible for others to commit themselves to the same target. Thus it would be better if targets reflect dissimilar opportunities for abatement across countries. As often noted, when national targets reflect national circumstances, it becomes possible for more countries to participate in international efforts to control and reduce GHG emissions.¹⁵ Furthermore, international mechanisms reducing low-cost GHG emissions in developing countries and formerly centrally planned economies, especially joint implementation and international trade in emission permits, could significantly increase the cost-effectiveness of international cooperation in climate protection.

Yet another, more political advantage of differentiation is that a group of countries setting an ambitious environmental target and demonstrating willingness and ability to achieve it may act as lead countries. The group increases the political pressure on other countries to set a similarly stringent environmental target.

Differentiated obligations in the climate policy area will most likely reflect that the opportunities and constraints regarding control of GHG emissions vary from one country to another. Because high abatement costs are often taken to imply that a country has fewer opportunities for reducing emissions compared to countries where abatement costs are lower, abatement costs will likely be used in comparisons of opportunities and constraints in various countries and in differentiating national obligations. National obligations also have to reflect countries' willingness to reduce emissions vigorously want comparatively ambitious obligations. It is unlikely that less environmentally concerned countries accept similar obligations to reduce emissions. An asymmetric distribution of obligations will

¹⁵ The *Financial Times* wrote at the time of the last pre-negotiation round before Kyoto: "The Kyoto meeting has more chance of success if it seeks a formula of equality of effort. A pledge by each nation to do what it can may produce better results than a target that is widely ignored." October 14, 1997, 17.

therefore be most satisfactory when it reasonably reflects both dissimilar abatement costs and dissimilar preferences for reducing emissions. If not, agreement is unlikely because differentiation will be perceived to be economically unfair and in discord with countries' environmental policies.

The national energy basis has important implications for countries' ability to reduce GHG emissions. It will be relatively more costly for countries depending heavily on nuclear power, hydro-power and other non-fossil fuels in their national fuel mix if all countries have to cut emissions by the same percent – if, in other words, a symmetrical agreement is established. All else equal, countries relying heavily upon non-fossil fuels will want to reduce less than if they had more fossil fuels - oil, natural gas, and coal - in their national fuel mix. It is therefore quite likely that they wish to reduce less than those countries they themselves and others compare them with, and that it is considered reasonable that countries depending greatly on non-fossil energy have less stringent targets. Conversely, because GHG emission reductions will not be as costly for them, countries emitting large amounts of GHGs are more likely to aggressively reduce emissions, and it is probably expected that they will reduce more than other countries. Pro-environment countries whose emissions are considerably higher than average may in particular want to cut emissions. They might therefore make a larger contribution than other, seemingly comparable countries.

Essentially, differentiation poses the challenge of constructing asymmetrical obligations that reasonably reflect significant national dissimilarities and at the same time achieve a collective target. To differentiate, a group of countries first must reach agreement on a collective policy target. Second, assuming everyone intends to contribute to the achievement of the target, it is necessary to identify the way(s) in which the total collective commitment could be distributed fairly and feasibly within the group. Third, the group will need to allocate the contributions to the group members, most likely through a negotiation process.

Although negotiating in good faith, any group of countries intending to differentiate obligations is facing significant political and intellectual obstacles. Regarding the latter, it becomes necessary to develop a framework consisting of a set of "objective" criteria on the basis of which differentiated national obligations can be constructed systematically. The framework and the set of criteria should make it possible to construct national obligations reflecting significant dissimilarities and similarities across countries.

13

The framework will need to include those issues that countries agree are most significant, and obligations reflecting to what extent countries are alike or dissimilar must then be constructed and developed systematically. Accordingly, it seems necessary to operationalize the framework and the selected "objective" criteria, and choose quantifiable indicators of national circumstances.

Needles to say, there are potentially many ways of identifying and comparing dissimilarities. Countries might disagree on which dissimilarities are important and which are insignificant, and it becomes important to have agreement on those criteria or issues that should be used in comparing countries. In the case of climate policy targets, the differentiation criteria agreed upon in the Berlin Mandate mentioned above include economic structure and energy basis.¹⁶ The global climate negotiations have also underlined differences with respect to wealth and countries' preferences for environmental protection. Consequently, it seems crucial to establish a framework and a set of criteria aimed at developing country obligations that reflect national circumstances such as wealth, structure of economy, national fuel mix, and environmental policies.

National obligations do not automatically emerge even though countries share notion(s) or standard(s) of fairness in a particular negotiating context. Economic analysis and energy modeling will probably play a key role in providing information about the economic costs of achieving a collective environmental policy target and abatement costs of individual countries.¹⁷ In the policy area of climate protection, a number of sectors, policies and measures should be examined in order to produce relevant cost estimations. A large number of detailed studies might be available, and it will often be necessary to synthesize existing economic information and distill input from studies. Negotiators and decision-makers are primarily generalists, not specialists, and governments will often employ expertise from universities, consultants and research institutions to synthesize knowledge and develop qualitative energy indicators and differentiated national targets. However, in order to reach agreement, considerable emphasis on simplicity is important.

¹⁶ See in particular article II.2(a). FCCC/CP/1995/7/Add.1, 6 June 1995. The Berlin Mandate makes reference to the Climate Convention, which draws attention to countries with fossil fuel dependant economies.

¹⁷ For example, for the use of energy modelling (the "RAINS" model) in negotiations on long-range transboundary air pollution controls in Europe, see Gehring, 1994. For a discussion of the use of analytical models in negotiations, see Sebenius 1981.

It will be necessary that frameworks for differentiation help make comparisons both among countries and among economic sectors within individual countries. Countries will want to know whether national contributions and obligations are comparable and proportional. Negotiators will probably find relatively uncomplicated differentiation criteria identifying and justifying dissimilar obligations on the basis of dissimilar economic sectors and countries the most appealing. Also, they will probably best be able to survive a negotiation process and resist the pressure of national self-interests.

As the above discussion shows, the symmetrical and the differentiated approach both have advantages and disadvantages. However, the question of *how* differentiated agreements are established has so far not been explicitly addressed and empirically documented. How is it possible to reach a differentiated agreement? Who are the significant actors? How do they facilitate the negotiation process? Which are the key challenges? Differentiation constitutes a formidable challenge, both politically and intellectually. By examining how the EC reached the climate policy decision of March 1997, we will gain useful knowledge about how differentiated agreements are reached and how negotiation processes should be designed in order to reach differentiated environmental agreements.

4 EC CLIMATE POLICY AND BURDEN SHARING

Already when the EC became involved in the global climate negotiations in the early 1990s, the member states and the Commission realized that some sort of internal differentiation would be necessary to reach agreement within the EC. Hence, a number of proposals for EC burden sharing were developed before and after the establishment of the FCCC in 1992. It was not until March 1997, however, that the EC reached a formal differentiated agreement.

Early on, Greece, Ireland, Portugal and Spain, the so-called cohesion countries, were concerned that the EC's climate policy could negatively affect their development. They believed that it would be necessary to take into account their need for economic development. They were in fact hoping for lighter burdens compared to the richer member states. Spain had resisted common standards in the negotiations on the LCP directive, and

15

vigorously defended the poorer member states.¹⁸ It suggested the formulation in the Council Decision of 1992 declaring: "[...] countries with, as yet, relatively low energy requirements, which can be expected to grow in step with their development, may need targets and strategies which can accommodate that development, while improving the energy efficiency of their economic activities."¹⁹ Other member states insisted on improving energy efficiency in cohesion countries but acknowledged, since the cohesion countries had fewer resources and legitimately needed economic development, the reasonableness of distinguishing between themselves and the cohesion countries. Although no official document was ever produced, the member states reached a common understanding and informal agreement that lesser burdens should fall on cohesion countries relative to other member states.

The Commission dealt with the question of burden sharing at several occasions in the 1990s. In 1990 and 1991, Draft Communications suggested that the share of emissions and wealth should determine the allocation of emission targets to member states.²⁰ The Commission distinguished between three groups of member states with different obligations. Member states emitting above the EC average - Germany, the Netherlands and Denmark - should reduce emissions by 5 percent relative to the 1990 levels. A group of member states emitting around the EC average - Luxembourg, Belgium, the UK, Italy and France - should stabilize their emissions at the 1990 level by 2000, and the cohesion countries would be allowed to increase their emissions by 15 percent relative to the 1990 level.²¹ But France, Italy and the UK resisted this idea, which they thought was unfeasible, and a Council meeting in October 1991 decided instead in favor of financial assistance to the cohesion countries. The assistance would be provided by the Structural Funds and the Cohesion Fund established by the Maastricht Treaty.²²

The Commission believed that it was necessary to take into account the development concerns of the poorer member states when it later developed a proposal for a CO_2 /energy tax. In order to accommodate the interests of the cohesion countries, which otherwise would withhold their political support, the commission proposed compensation

¹⁸ For the negotiations on the LCP directive, see Héritier, Knill and Mingers 1996, 184-208.

¹⁹ Haigh 1996, 162. The conclusions from the EC Environment Council in March 1997 contain an almost identical wording. Council of the European Union, 7 March 1997, 6.

²⁰ Jachtenfuchs and Huber 1993, 48-49.

²¹ Notice that Luxembourg, Belgium and the UK emitted above average, measured per capita.

²² For the Structural Funds and the Cohesion Fund, see Laffan 1997.

payments under a burden sharing scheme. This would imply that the EC provided "funding to offset the global economic costs of the tax and other measures within the CO₂ strategy package for the less developed EC member states."²³ The issue of burden sharing was again addressed in a Commission document prepared for an EC summit in Essen in 1994. This document suggested that finances from the Structural Funds and the Cohesion Fund of the Maastricht Treaty should be used to achieve a fair treatment of Greece, Ireland, Portugal and Spain.²⁴

The EC target to stabilize CO_2 emissions in year 2000 at 1990 levels, which was agreed to in October 1990, implicitly acknowledged the need for differentiating the member states' obligations. The EC stabilization target was not premised upon a careful and systematic review of existing and future potentials for stabilizing and reducing CO_2 emissions within the EC. Rather, after a pledge-and-review round in which member states described their expected energy use and trajectories of GHG emissions until 2000, it seemed feasible, primarily because Germany expected significant emission reductions, to stabilize the total EC emissions in year 2000. This "bottom-up" approach raised the question whether a genuine EC policy in the area of climate protection existed at all. It was evident that the cohesion countries would increase their emissions over this period.

In short, how climate policy obligations could feasibly be shared among the EC member states became an essential issue as soon as the EC began responding at the policy level to the climate change issue in 1990. Despite this, and although a number of common statements and various proposals were generated, no substantial political progress was achieved on the issue until 1997. However, when the EC became involved in the global protocol negotiations, which, as mentioned, began after COP-1 in the spring of 1995, it was necessary to revisit the critical and complex issue of burden sharing. Because a possible future protocol was expected to reduce, not just stabilize, GHG emissions, and in order to identify individual countries' legally binding targets, the EC had to work out a formal agreement on burden sharing among the member states. The climate policy targets of the member states in 1995 are shown in Table 2.

²³ Héritier, Knill and Mingers 1996, 312.

²⁴ Huber 1995, 19.

| Germany | 25% CO ₂ | Reduction from 1990 by 2005 | |
|-----------------|---|-----------------------------|--|
| Austria | 20% CO ₂ | Reduction from 1988 by 2005 | |
| Denmark | 20% energy-based CO ₂ | Reduction from 1988 by 2005 | |
| Luxembourg | 20% CO ₂ | Reduction from 1990 by 2005 | |
| Belgium | 5% CO ₂ | Reduction from 1990 by 2000 | |
| The Netherlands | Stabilize CO ₂ by 1994-1995, 3-5% reduction from 1989-1990 by 2000 | | |
| | 10% CH ₄ | Reduction from 1990 by 2000 | |
| | Stabilize N ₂ O emissions on 1990 level by 2000 | | |
| Finland | Stabilize energy-based CO_2 on 1990 level by 2000 | | |
| Italy | Stabilize CO ₂ on 1990 level by 2000 | | |
| Sweden | Stabilize fossil energy-based CO ₂ on 1990 by 2000, and reduce post-2000 | | |
| | 30% CH ₄ from landfills Reduction from 1990 by 2000 | | |
| United Kingdom | Stabilize greenhouse gases on 1990 level by 2000 | | |
| France | Maintain annual CO ₂ emissions per capita below 7.33 ton CO ₂ | | |
| Greece | 15% CO ₂ Increase from 1990 by 2000 | | |
| Ireland | 20% CO ₂ | Increase from 1990 by 2000 | |
| Spain | 25% energy-based CO ₂ | Increase from 1990 by 2000 | |
| Portugal | 40% CO ₂ | Increase from 1990 by 2000 | |

Table 2. Climate policy targets of EC member states in 1995.

Source: European Commission, 1996. However, Germany's target has been corrected. For Spain's target, see FCCC/IDR.1/ESP, 10 July 1996.

5 "TOWARDS A EUROPEAN CONSENSUS " IN DUBLIN

During the 1996 Irish Presidency, a Community climate policy workshop titled "Towards a European Consensus" was held on 2-3 September 1996 in Dublin, Ireland. The workshop focussed on national circumstances, such as energy-efficiency differences in various economic sectors, and also looked at policies and measures to reduce GHG emissions within the EC. The workshop brought together the negotiators from the member states participating in the EC Ad Hoc Group on Climate, officials from the Commission's Environment Directorate General (DG XI), Dutch energy policy advisors and a professional facilitator.

DG XI presented a 3-page proposal for an EC target of 10 percent in year 2005 and burden sharing among member states in Dublin. It was suggested that nine member states would reduce CO_2 emissions, a smaller group would stabilize emissions, and two cohesion countries could increase emissions somewhat.²⁵ DG XI had estimated contributions of CO_2 emissions from the energy and transformation sector, the industry

²⁵ European Commission, Discussion Paper.

sector, the transport sector, and the commercial/institutional/residential sectors. But most of the member states preferred a common 2005 target to be around 5 percent, and did not support the Commission's proposal. As a DG XI official noted later, the Commission proposal for differentiation was rather similar to those obligations member states agreed to in March 1997.²⁶ However, the DG XI proposal set a too ambitious common target, appeared to be ill prepared, and was not persuasively presented in Dublin. For these reasons, especially the lack of substantive content, the proposal failed to build consensus among the member states. Explained an astute Irish negotiator: "The proposal did not have the necessary intellectual rigor."²⁷

DG XI strongly urged the EC to play a leadership role at the global level. DG XI was particularly concerned about the political credibility of the EC target. Significantly, because of the national targets for 2005 set by Germany, Austria, and Denmark, and expected CO₂ reduction in the UK due to the conversion from coal to gas, considerable future GHG reductions seemed very likely. In fact, these member states would alone almost achieve what would be needed to reach a 10 percent EC wide reduction by 2005. This would mean that the member states without national targets could increase their emissions and did not need to take any efforts towards reduction. DG XI concluded: "It would therefore politically not be credible to propose less than a 10 % EC wide reduction of GHG emissions."²⁸ Hence, throughout the EC negotiation process, DG XI stressed that a politically credible EC target for year 2005, or later, should be no less than 10 percent.

A professional facilitator participated in the Dublin workshop. At the initiative of the facilitator, the negotiators informally indicated what they thought would be a suitable EC CO₂ policy target for the year 2010. The responses of the member states were represented by marks placed at points along a line indicating the percent size of an EC wide reduction target and showed that they preferred a target for year 2010 to be somewhere in the range of 10-20 percent. It also seemed clear that a majority would prefer an EC wide target of about 15 percent. The EC negotiation process would in that case need to distribute approximately 15 percent of the total CO₂ emission in 1990, i.e. around

²⁶ Personal interview with EC official in DG XI, Brussels, 14 May 1997.

²⁷ Personal interview with Irish government official, Dublin, 10 October 1997.

²⁸ European Commission, Discussion Paper.

493 million tons CO_2 , plus possible increases in emissions in the 1990-2010 period, among the member states.²⁹

The climate issue was discussed when EC environment ministers met in mid-October 1996. Ministers stressed the importance of the Commission's contribution to the negotiations on a protocol, and "the Presidency called on delegations to work actively on this issue in order to reach conclusions at the Environment Council in December."³⁰ But when environment ministers met on 9-10 December in Brussels it quickly became clear that the member states rejected the Irish Presidency's proposal of a 5-10 percent reduction in 2005 and a 10-20 percent reduction in 2010, relative to the 1990 emission level.³¹

Because of lack of agreement, the EC was still unable to present a proposal for a protocol and could therefore not assume a leadership role in the global climate negotiations. Consequently, the political pressure to find a solution to the burden sharing issue was increasing significantly. The only remaining realistic opportunity to reach an agreement was the EC environmental ministers meeting in March 1997.

6 THE TRIPTIQUE APPROCH

The Netherlands hoped to be able to resolve the burden sharing issue within the EC during its 6-month Presidency period beginning on 1 January 1997. The Dutch strategy for the EC climate target negotiations was developed well ahead of the Dutch Presidency period. An essential feature of the strategy was to follow a sectoral approach to these negotiations rather than one analyzing member states as "black-boxes". With hindsight, choosing this approach was perhaps not surprising, as there appeared to be general agreement among involved government officials in several member states that a sectoral approach seemed most promising. Some policy experts and specialists had examined OECD-level allocations of climate policy targets that were based on indicators of energy-efficiency and countries' contributions of GHG emissions, in particular CO_2 emissions per GDP and CO_2 emissions per capita. But such approaches seemed to be too complex, aggregated and insensitive to national differences to be of use in climate negotiations.

²⁹ In 1990 the EC emitted in total 3285.52 million tonnes CO₂. See Appendix 1.

³⁰ Europe Daily Bulletin, No. 6835, 18 October 1996.

The Dutch environment ministry commissioned energy expert Kornelis Blok and his colleagues at the University of Utrecht to help develop a useful sectoral approach. Blok and his colleagues, who had participated in the Dublin workshop, provided EC climate negotiators with expert input about policies and measures to limit and reduce GHG emissions within the EC.³² The EC Environment Council had in December 1995 decided that the "equitable sharing of the objective within the Community should be discussed and agreed in parallel with the decision on proposals by the Community for quantified reduction objectives and policies and measures for inclusion in the protocol."³³ Perhaps unsurprisingly, the EC had made little progress on the burden sharing issue by focusing on measures and policies. Instead, more emphasis on burden sharing seemed necessary, as well as a new approach to the issue.

The Dutch government initiated such a new approach, namely "The Triptique Approach." Bert Metz, the chief Dutch government participant in climate negotiations at the EC and the global level, was the primary architect of the Triptique Approach. The Approach was intended to make the member states reach an agreement both on a total EC-wide abatement target and on individual national targets. Previous attempts to reach agreement within the EC pointed towards the necessity of the total EC abatement target and the national shares being negotiated together. An EC agreement was reached in 1996 on stabilizing CO₂ concentrations in the atmosphere below 550 ppmv, i.e. approaching twice the pre-industrial concentration level of 280 ppmv.³⁴ The member states failed, however, to reach an agreement on national targets. Indeed, high-level Dutch government officials concluded that the EC negotiation process, instead of separating these issues, should directly couple the size of a total EC target with the size of national contributions to the total EC target.

The Dutch negotiators intended to design an approach to the EC burden sharing negotiations that was quite simple, at least in the beginning.³⁵ The approach should be able to accommodate national circumstances to a reasonable degree, but should avoid creating insurmountable requirements for data and projections of future developments. The

³¹ Europe Daily Bulletin, No. 6870, 9 December 1996.

³² Blok and Phylipsen 1996; Phylipsen and Blok 1996.

³³ Council of the European Union, 7 March 1997, 3.

³⁴ Parts per million (10^6) by volume.

³⁵ As Metz later underlined, the Dutch government followed the so-called "KISS principle" ("Keep it simple, stupid") when developing the Triptique Approach. See Alfsen, Ringius and Torvanger 1997, 26-27.

Triptique Approach separated the national economy into three broad sectors; the light domestic sector, the energy-intensive, export-oriented sector, and the electricity generation sector.³⁶ CO₂ emissions per capita from the domestic sector did not vary significantly across member states, although the cohesion countries in general emitted less. In the case of the heavy industry and the power generation sectors, however, considerable differences existed across the EC.

Before deciding to follow the Triptique Approach, Dutch officials and the Utrecht University experts had experimented with alternative approaches dividing the economy into either two or four sectors. It did seem necessary to separate the electricity sector from the rest of the economy. The EC moved in the 1990s toward establishment of an EC-wide electricity market, but, although a significant development from the perspective of climate and energy policy, it was not for this reason that the Triptique Approach singled out the electricity sector.³⁷ Rather, power production is an essential sector from the perspective of controlling GHG emissions, and fuel shares in the electricity sector varied significantly from one member state to another. For example, Sweden and France depended greatly on carbon-free nuclear and hydro-power; Danish and German electricity production was heavily coal-based. By singling out the electricity sector, the Triptique Approach clearly demonstrated, and in effect justified, distinguishing between various countries when setting targets. It was partly for political reasons that the energy-intensive, export-oriented industries were singled out in the Triptique Approach. These industries had been strongly opposed to the carbon/energy tax first proposed by the Commission in 1992 and had therefore been granted partial or total exemption from the tax until major OECD countries would adopt comparable measures.³⁸ By setting identical "targets", or "allowances", for energy-intensive, export-oriented industries across the EC, it was hoped that the Triptique Approach could avoid disruptive export and trade effects due to climate policy. This could minimize opposition from the member states.

The domestic sector was defined to include households, services, light industry, agriculture, and transportation. The heavy industrial sector consisted of the following industries: building materials, chemical, iron and steel, non-ferrous metals, pulp and paper, refineries, coke ovens (if they were not a part of the iron and steel industry), gasworks and

³⁶ Blok, Phylipsen, and Bode 1997.

³⁷ Midttun 1997.

³⁸ Haigh 1996, 165; Wagner 1997, 317.

other energy transformation branches, electricity generation excluded. The third sector, as mentioned earlier, was power generation. National obligations for the member states would be calculated by adding up individual allowances calculated for each of the three sectors and by taking into account economic growth, population changes and climate-adjusted energy-use (heating and cooling). The sectoral allowances would not be regarded as sectoral targets themselves.

A per capita approach was used to calculate emission allowances in the domestic sector. The Triptique Approach assumed that these emissions would converge at an equal level in year 2030 in the member states, and that emissions allowances per head should be identical in all EC countries in 2030. The allowed per capita emissions in 2010 were calculated by linear interpolation from 1990 per capita emissions to the common converging emissions level in 2030. Corrections were made for climate differences influencing the energy demand across the EC, and for expected population changes.

Energy efficiency improvement targets were established for heavy industry. Taking the existing sector structure as a reference point, a common growth rate of 1.2 percent was assumed for all countries. To this was added the same energy efficiency improvement rate (0.66 percent per year between 1990 and 1995, and 1.2 percent, or 1.5 percent, per year between 1995 and 2010). These assumptions about growth rate and energy efficiency improvement rate were in accordance with the projections in a widely accepted DG XVII (Energy) business-as-usual scenario, the so-called Conventional Wisdom scenario.³⁹ It was furthermore assumed that industry in all member states would decarbonize fuels, i.e. switching from fossil to non-fossil fuels, by 0.17 percent annually.

The largest differences existed in the electricity sector. For this reason, a so-called tailor-made approach, combining a county-to-country approach and general guidelines, was followed. The guidelines implied that growth in electricity consumption should be limited to 1 percent annually; however, the cohesion countries were allowed a growth rate of 1.9 percent in order to create more leeway for economic development. By 2010, use of renewables should increase by 8 percent, use of coal and oil should be reduced to 70 percent of the 1990 levels, nuclear energy should be used in accordance with national preferences, and the use of natural gas should be increased. It was emphasized that member states were free to choose their preferred combination of options.

³⁹ European Commission, DG XVII, 1996.

7 THE ZEIST WORKSHOP

The 30-page report on the Triptique Approach was presented for the first time at an informal workshop organized by the EC Ad Hoc Group on Climate on 16-17 January 1997 in Zeist, the Netherlands.⁴⁰ This was the first time that actual individual targets for all fifteen member states were presented.

The report outlined four different variants. In variants I and IA, domestic sector emissions would be reduced by 10 percent by 2010 compared to 1990, an annual energy efficiency improvement of 1.2 percent from 1995 to 2000 in the heavy industry would be achieved, and emissions from power production would be reduced as described above. The significant difference between I and IA was that national climate targets for Denmark, Germany, Austria and Sweden for year 2010 were included in alternative IA. These national targets were a 25 percent reduction in Austria and Denmark, a 30 percent reduction in Germany, but a 5 percent increase in Sweden.⁴¹ Variant I would mean an ECwide reduction target of 9 percent; IA would mean a reduction of 14 percent (see Table 3).

In variants II and IIA, domestic sector emissions would be reduced by 15 percent by 2010 compared to 1990; an annual energy efficiency improvement of 1.5 percent would be achieved from 1995 to 2000 in heavy industry. There were no changes in the electricity sector compared to I and IA. Variant II would mean an EC-wide reduction target of 13 percent; IIA would reduce by 17 percent.

⁴⁰ Blok, Phylipsen, and Bode 1997.

⁴¹ These targets were taken from an Irish Presidency report that incorrectly set Germany's target to 30 percent. Austria's target was 25 percent in the report, and Sweden's unofficial target was a 5 percent increase.

| COUNTRY | Ι | IA | II | IIA |
|----------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Belgium | -12 | -12 | -15 | -15 |
| Denmark | -12 | -25 | -14 | -25 |
| Germany | -17 | -30 | -20 | -30 |
| Greece | +2 | +2 | -2 | -2 |
| Spain | +11 | +11 | +6 | +6 |
| France | -4 | -4 | -12 | -12 |
| Ireland | -2 | -2 | -5 | -5 |
| Italy | -5 | -5 | -9 | -9 |
| Luxembourg | -17 | -17 | -20 | -20 |
| Netherlands | -6 | -6 | -9 | -9 |
| Austria | -1 | -25 | -5 | -25 |
| Portugal | +21 | +21 | +16 | +16 |
| Finland | -4 | -4 | -7 | -7 |
| Sweden | +26 | +5 | +22 | +5 |
| United Kingdom | -17 | -17 | -20 | -20 |
| EC | -9 | -14 | -13 | -17 |

Table 3. Climate targets for the member states in each of the four variants

Source: Blok et. al 1997, 14.

Not surprisingly, the Triptique report gave rise to discussion. Member states raised questions about the sectoral approach and how the report dealt with the agriculture and transportation sectors, the share of electricity in space heating, previous member states efforts, and climate corrections. The Austrian delegation, for example, would have preferred that the transportation sector be singled out as a separate sector. However, the meeting agreed that the approach seemed highly useful. Thus, a Swedish negotiator concluded: "The approach presented a new, promising angle on the whole question of burden sharing."⁴² Although they thought that some would object to the report's sectoral approach, and somewhat doubted if it was "fair" to add the unilateral national commitments to their share of the EC commitments the way this was done in the Triptique Approach, Danish government officials completely supported the Dutch approach.⁴³ Member states in general were satisfied with the report, and none of them fundamentally questioned the usefulness of the three-pronged Triptique Approach. They all stressed that the decision on differentiation was political and could not be made on the basis of a "mechanical formula."⁴⁴

The Zeist workshop did not attempt to reach agreement on a total EC target and burden sharing on the basis of the four variants. In fact, there was no detailed discussion of

⁴² Personal interview with Swedish government official, Stockholm, 19 June 1997.

⁴³ Personal interview with Danish government official, Copenhagen, 29 April 1997.

⁴⁴ Correspondence with high-level Dutch negotiator. 25 February 1998.

the percent targets allocated to the individual member states. The Utrecht University experts explained that the scenario targets indicated the amounts of GHG emissions they concluded could feasibly be achieved, based on analysis of the specific circumstances of member states in various economic sectors and sub-sectors. Belgium, which thought that its target was too stringent compared to the Netherlands, came to the conclusion that its target was feasible and would not mean a comparatively heavier burden. Significantly, however, cohesion countries objected to their targets, which they thought were too stringent, and argued that they needed more allowances for future emissions. Not surprising, given the lenient attitude of the Netherlands towards the poorer member states, the Dutch sympathized with the concerns of the cohesion countries and appeared willing to propose less stringent targets for them.

Because of "The Triptique Approach" report, the Zeist workshop successfully managed to establish an objective technical framework within which national targets and contributions as well as collective commitments were proposed. It forced the member states to think concretely about their targets and contributions, and "accelerated the process of differentiation."⁴⁵ The Triptique Approach "set the premises" for the subsequent negotiations inside the EC.⁴⁶ While organized as an informal, technical workshop, the Zeist meeting therefore marked a decisive political step towards climate policy differentiation within the EC.

8 THE EC ENVIRONMENT COUNCIL MEETING

Shortly after the informal workshop in Zeist, the member states received a letter from the Dutch environmental minister, Margreeth de Boer, proposing EC wide reduction targets and a burden sharing arrangement for member states. The letter underlined the urgency of reaching an EC negotiating position.⁴⁷ It was proposed that the EC would commit itself to 10 percent reduction by 2005 and 15 percent reduction by 2010 at the March Environmental Council meeting. The proposal for burden sharing focused on 2010, "in order not to complicate the decision any further and because the precise burden sharing for

⁴⁵ Personal interview with Irish government official, Dublin, 10 October 1997.

⁴⁶ Personal interview with Spanish government official, Madrid, 8 October 1997.

⁴⁷ Letter 27 January 1997.

the reduction that will be agreed in Kyoto has to be determined at that time" (see Table 4). De Boer further explained that interim targets for the year 2005 could be deducted from the 2010 targets. The minister concluded by reiterating the importance of EC leadership in the protocol negotiations and contributions from all the member states: "A challenging period is ahead of us and I firmly believe the world is looking to the European Union to play an ambitious leading role in the international negotiating process. That role can never be more than the sum total of the commitments individual Member States are willing to make."⁴⁸

Table 4. The Netherlands presidency proposal for national emission reduction targets for year 2010.

| Member States | Emission index |
|----------------|-----------------|
| | 2010 (1990=100) |
| Belgium | 85 |
| Denmark | 75 |
| Germany | 70 |
| Greece | 105 |
| Spain | 115 |
| France | 95 |
| Ireland | 105 |
| Italy | 90 |
| Luxembourg | 60 |
| Netherlands | 90 |
| Austria | 75 |
| Portugal | 125 |
| Finland | 90 |
| Sweden | 105 |
| United Kingdom | 80 |

Source: Letter from Ministry for Housing, Planning and the Environment, 27 January 1997.

Evidently, despite rounding the national targets to the nearest 5 or 10 percent points, the Dutch proposal was built on the targets developed in the Triptique Approach. Significantly, as had been made clear at the Zeist workshop, the Dutch Presidency proposal took into consideration the concerns of the cohesion countries. As a result of these target modifications, it would be possible for these member states to increase emissions. On the other hand, Finland, Italy and the Netherlands would have to reduce further emissions. The differences between the Netherlands Presidency's proposal and the Triptique Approach are shown in Table 5.

⁴⁸ Ibid.

| Country | Ι | IA | Π | IIA |
|-------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Belgium | -3 | -3 | 0 | 0 |
| Denmark | -13 | 0 | -11 | 0 |
| Germany | -13 | 0 | -10 | 0 |
| Greece | +3 | +3 | +7 | +7 |
| Spain | +4 | +4 | +9 | +9 |
| France | -1 | -1 | +7 | +7 |
| Ireland | +7 | +7 | +10 | +10 |
| Italy | -5 | -5 | -1 | -1 |
| Luxembourg | -23 | -23 | -20 | -20 |
| Netherlands | -4 | -4 | -1 | -1 |
| Austria | -24 | 0 | -20 | 0 |
| Portugal | +4 | +4 | +9 | +9 |
| Finland | -6 | -6 | -3 | -3 |
| Sweden | -21 | 0 | -17 | 0 |
| UK | -3 | -3 | 0 | 0 |

 Table 5. Difference between presidency proposal and Triptique targets

The Dutch proposal was examined by the Ad Hoc Group on Climate at its meeting on February 17-18, 1997. It now became obvious that a number of the member states considered their proposed national targets too ambitious and unfeasible. In fact, a majority of member states wanted their targets to be less stringent and adjusted with what they perceived to be realistically achievable (see Table 6). Consequently, at this point the total reachable EC target for year 2010 was about 11 percent, or 4 percent below the target proposed by the Netherlands.

| | (A) 2010 | (B) 2010 | Difference |
|-------------|---------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|
| | Presidency proposal | Informal pledges from | (B)-(A)= |
| | All climate gasses | member states at Ad | |
| | | Hoc Group meeting | |
| | | 17-18 February 1997 | |
| | INDEX | INDEX | INDEX |
| Belgium | 85 | 90 | +5 |
| Denmark | 75 | 75 | 0 |
| Germany | 70 | 75 | +5 |
| Greece | 105 | (110) | +5 |
| Spain | 115 | 115 | 0 |
| France | 95 | 95 | 0 |
| Ireland | 105 | (110) | +5 |
| Italy | 90 | 95 | +5 |
| Luxembourg | 60 | 70 | +10 |
| Netherlands | 90 | 90 | 0 |
| Austria | 75 | 75 | 0 |
| Portugal | 125 | (125) | 0 |
| Finland | 90 | (95) | +5 |
| Sweden | 105 | 105 | 0 |
| UK | 80 | 90 | +10 |
| EC-15 | 85 | 89 | +4 |

Table 6. Comparison between presidency proposal and member states' informal pledges⁴⁹

Compared to the technical meetings of the EC Ad Hoc Group on Climate, the EC Environmental Ministers Council politicized the negotiations considerably. The political pressure was increased further because the meeting took place just previous to a new round of global negotiations beginning on 3 March 1997, in Bonn, Germany. The final national targets and the EC wide target were uncertain. However, there was a real possibility that the 15 percent target would not be reached. Some of the biggest European contributors in an absolute sense, namely Germany, UK and Italy, seemingly wanted to lower their national targets, while no member countries were opting for more ambitious national targets.

Despite these uncertainties, however, an analysis made by the Danish negotiators clearly showed that a well-demarcated bargaining space had been constructed by following the Triptique Approach.⁵⁰ The analysis basically identified three possible final negotiated outcomes. A first possible outcome would be similar to the informal pledges that the member states made in mid-February at the Ad Hoc Group on Climate. It would mean an EC wide target of approximately10 percent. This outcome identified what the Danish

⁴⁹ Notice that the Greek, Irish, Portuguese and Finnish informal pledges were not entirely clear.

negotiators considered to be the "baseline" of the EC negotiations: a situation of noncooperation in which individual member states primarily followed their own interests with little regard for the preferences of others. This would be the outcome if a significant number of member states did not compromise and refused to make comparable or proportional contributions – that is, they would not be "fair" and contribute to an equitable distribution of obligations. Conversely, the Danish negotiators perceived the Dutch proposal for a 15 percent EC wide target and its burden sharing arrangement to be the upper bound. Thus the Dutch proposal demarcated what appeared as the maximum feasible given the configuration of interests among EC member states.

The Danish negotiators then compared two negotiated outcomes to the negotiation "baseline." They referred to a second EC negotiated outcome as "Possible Compromise." This outcome would be furthest away from the Netherlands Presidency proposal. In the "Possible Compromise", Belgium, Finland, France, Italy, the Netherlands and the UK would adopt positions close to their informal pledges made in the Ad Hoc Group on Climate, and the total EC emissions would be reduced by 13 percent. A third negotiated outcome, termed "Fair Burden Sharing", came closer to the Presidency proposal and would produce a 14 percent reduction in total EC emissions. "Fair Burden Sharing" implied raised targets for Belgium, the UK, Finland, France, Italy and Netherlands. Seen from a Danish perspective, it was the positions of these six member states that determined whether the final outcome would reflect fairness or self-interest. The targets of the cohesion countries, which were almost identical to the Dutch proposal, remained unchanged in the three negotiation scenarios forecasted by the Danish negotiators.

When EC environmental ministers met in March, a number of member states believed that their targets were too ambitious and wanted adjustments in line with what they considered to be more realistic. By now, it was evident that the final EC wide target could be lower than 15 percent and, crucially, below 10 percent. The German environmental minister and the Commission in particular emphasized that a common EC target below 10 percent would mean that the EC position in the global negotiations was not politically credible. Again, it was strongly stressed that all member states needed to contribute as much as possible.

⁵⁰ Memo. No date.

CICERO Report 1997:8

Although the Netherlands had successfully accelerated the process of differentiation within the EC, and had earned the respect of many European negotiators, member states were dissatisfied with the Netherlands's self-imposed target. In fact, a number of member states believed that the Dutch commitment of 10 percent was insufficient, if not self-serving. Germany therefore opposed the Dutch proposal for a 30 percent reduction, which set Germany's contribution at an additional 5 percent over its domestic target of 25 percent. ⁵¹ UK and Belgium also responded to the perceived low Dutch target. ⁵² UK wanted to contribute only 10 percent, not 20 percent as suggested by the Netherlands, and Belgium decided to contribute 10 percent, instead of 15.⁵³ Thus, both countries adopted a target similar to the Netherlands. France and Finland both committed themselves to a stabilization target, not a reduction target.

Although it was acknowledged that they necessarily would increase their emissions, the cohesion countries were under significant political pressure to limit their increases as much as feasibly possible. Other member states believed that the cohesion countries jeopardized the EC negotiating position by cutting back their national targets, and a negotiation breakdown was a real possibility. Some member states found it particularly unacceptable if emission increases in cohesion countries would make it impossible to reduce total EC emissions by 10 percent by 2010. The cohesion countries would, if negotiations broke down, be publicly criticized for their lack of willingness to cooperate and their disregard of the global warming issue. The Irish and especially the Spanish accepted the targets proposed by the Dutch, but Greece and Portugal lowered their targets significantly. In the end, six member states reduced their targets even further (see Table 7).

⁵¹ Personal interview with German government official, Bonn, 10 October 1997.

⁵² Personal interview with Danish government official, Brussels, 12 May 1997; Personal interview with Spanish government official, Madrid, 8 October 1997.

⁵³ The British government under Tony Blair quickly made the environment a priority issue and raised the UK's climate target to 20 percent. It was probably no coincidence that this target was in perfect accord with the Triptique Approach and the Netherlands Presidency proposal (see variants II and IIA of the Triptique Approach in Table 3). 20 percent was considered a national target, however; the UK did not raise its 10 percent contribution to the common EC target.

| Country | I. Dutch | II. National | Difference |
|-------------|----------|--------------|------------|
| | proposal | emission | I-II= |
| | | Target | |
| Belgium | -15 | -10 | +5 |
| Denmark | -25 | -25 | 0 |
| Germany | -30 | -25 | +5 |
| Greece | +5 | +30 | +25 |
| Spain | +15 | +17 | +2 |
| France | -5 | 0 | +5 |
| Ireland | +5 | +15 | +10 |
| Italy | -10 | -7 | +3 |
| Luxembourg | -40 | - 30 | +10 |
| Netherlands | -10 | -10 | 0 |
| Austria | -25 | -25 | 0 |
| Portugal | +25 | +40 | +15 |
| Finland | -10 | 0 | +10 |
| Sweden | +5 | +5 | 0 |
| UK | -20 | -10 | +10 |

Table 7. Comparison between presidency proposal (I) and member states' targets (II)

Because of the cuts in member states' targets, the reachable EC target was reduced by about 5 percent to 10 percent reduction in year 2010. A political problem immediately arose as a 10 percent reduction target was perceived to be insufficient to influence the positions of the United States and Japan in the protocol negotiations. A solution lacked at first. The Netherlands proposed to adjust the EC target downward by 3 percent to a 12 percent reduction with accompanying adjustment of national targets. However, Denmark's environment minister, Svend Auken, proposed an acceptable solution. Auken suggested to hold the 15 percent target and accept the 10 percent "shared-out" contributions as an interim solution.⁵⁴ Moreover, the EC, in case the Kyoto target exceeded 10 percent, would distribute the remaining emission reductions after Kyoto.⁵⁵

The 10/15 proposal was finally accepted because it was seen as important, if not essential, that the EC target was both politically credible and ambitious.⁵⁶ Moreover, because the negotiators believed that the Kyoto target might be less stringent than 15 percent, the unusual 10/15 negotiating result was not expected to compromise the position

⁵⁴ In fact, only a 9.2 percent reduction of total EC emissions would be achieved.

⁵⁵ As the Environment Council concluded: "The Council stresses (...) that the outcome of COP-3 in Kyoto will determine (...) the actual Community target." Council of the European Union, 7 March 1997, 4.

⁵⁶ There had been no discussion within the Ad Hoc Group on Climate on solutions to such an outcome. The idea of a 10/15 solution would have been "dead" had it been suggested in this group. Auken himself came up with the solution. Personal interview with Danish government official, Brussels, 12 May 1997.

of the EC in the global negotiations.⁵⁷ The EC would, in case there was agreement on a 15 percent cut in Kyoto, subsequently negotiate a distribution of the remaining 5 percent. The member states believed that those policies and measures that they were in the process of implementing, or soon would implement, could achieve a total reduction of 10 percent within the EC. If necessary, implementation of common and coordinated policies and measures (CCPMs) would achieve the residual 5 percent.⁵⁸ Consequently, national targets and the EC target would primarily be achieved by national measures. The member states were confident that they would be able to reach their targets.⁵⁹

By differentiating the obligations of member states, the EC achieved its external political objective: injecting new energy into the global negotiations on the Kyoto Protocol.⁶⁰ The outcome of the EC negotiations made it possible to increase political pressure on other industrialized countries. In the summer of 1997, the president of the European Commission, Jacques Santer, and European leaders criticized the positions of the United States and Japan. At the G-8 meeting in June, the French president, Jacques Chirac, declared: "The Americans are the biggest polluters."⁶¹ "We in Europe have put our cards on the table," British Prime Minister Tony Blair said at a UN Earth Summit in New York. "It is time for the special pleading to stop and for others to follow suit."⁶² The EC maintained its leadership role in the final phases of the global negotiations up to the Kyoto Protocol.

9 FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

Contrary to the predictions of most analysts and scholars, the previous section shows that differentiation of national commitments is achievable in the EC policy area of climate

⁵⁷ A high-level Dutch official, for example, expected that a "minus 10 percent" agreement from Kyoto was more realistic than a "minus 15 percent figure." *Financial Times*, 4 March 1997, 2.

⁵⁸ For the CCPMs identified by the Ad Hoc Group on Climate, see Council of the European Union, 7 March 1997, 7.

⁵⁹ The Commission later prepared a report intended to document the technical, political and economic feasibility of the EC target. See European Commission, 1 November 1997.

⁶⁰ The EC environment council noted in June 1997 that, "(t)he negotiating position adopted by the Community on the basis of those Conclusions [of 3 March 1997] had a significant impact both at the session of the negotiating body in Bonn and at the recent CSD meeting in New York." Council of the European Union, 19/20 June 1997.

⁶¹ Financial Times, 23 June 1997, 1.

⁶² International Herald Tribune, 24 June 1997, 6.

protection. This case could even be seen as evidence that it is impossible to reach agreement on symmetrical climate obligations, primarily because the considerable asymmetries in the climate policy area make differentiation necessary.⁶³ The EC constitutes a relatively homogenous group of industrialized countries, and, as the Kyoto Protocol shows, differentiation should therefore be even more likely at the OECD level: the Kyoto Protocol targets range from a 10 percent rise (Iceland) to a 8 percent cut, largely in the EC and economies in transition; the U.S. reduction target is 7 percent, and Japan's 6 percent.⁶⁴ Unlike the EC agreement, however, the Kyoto targets were reached through an "inductive" negotiation process; in other words, countries "put the agreement together piecemeal, building it primarily through mutual compromise or exchanged concessions on specific items."⁶⁵

As the EC process shows, differentiation will not necessarily result in an uncontrollable expansion of the bargaining space. The EC avoided many of the pitfalls identified by governments and analysts. Informal agreement was achieved on a set of quantifiable indicators of national circumstances which made it possible to develop national and EC contributions; emphasis was put on simplicity and "learning by doing"; the task of developing energy indicators and policy targets was delegated to a group of independent experts, not individual member states; a "menu" of EC climate policy scenarios and national and common targets was developed; expert proposals for targets could be revised in the light of better knowledge of national circumstances; and, finally, targets developed by experts served as the starting points, rather than end-points, of a negotiation process.⁶⁶

National characteristics and significant national concerns within the EC were taken into account in designing the Triptique Approach and in structuring the negotiation process. As mentioned, the Triptique Approach assumed that CO_2 emissions per head from the domestic sector in member states should converge to an equal level in 2030. This approach reflected the French, Portuguese and Spanish views, namely that CO_2 emissions per capita should be chosen as an indicator of national obligations.⁶⁷ Paralleling the

⁶³ Parson and Zeckhauser, 94.

⁶⁴ For the Kyoto Conference, see *Earth Negotiations Bulletin*.

⁶⁵ Zartman and Barman, 1982, 89.

⁶⁶ Luxembourg's target was modified, in fact strengthened, after Luxembourg had provided the Utrecht University experts with more accurate national information.

⁶⁷ For France's proposal to differentiate industrialized countries' climate targets according to net per capita GHG emissions, see FCCC/AGBM/1997/2 31 January 1997, 41.

emphasis that especially Denmark, the Netherlands and Germany put on improving energy efficiency, the analysis of the heavy industrial sector assumed that the member states moved toward the same energy efficiency level in this sector. Also, as there was general agreement within the EC that the cohesion countries should carry lesser burdens, the Triptique Approach assumed a higher growth rate in electricity consumption in these member states. Thus, rather than choosing a single indicator at the level of individual member states (e.g. CO₂ emissions per person or per GDP), the Triptique Approach combined several energy indicators at the level of sectors. In this way the approach shifted the attention away from comparing contributions and fairness among member states to instead comparing sectoral contributions and fairness across sectors within the EC. When developing climate policy, it is necessary to examine opportunities for GHG emissions reduction, including the scope for behavioral changes, at the sectoral, not the national level, and the Triptique Approach took a significant step in this direction.⁶⁸

Experienced and skillful Dutch negotiators and energy experts played a vital role by developing a suitable conceptual framework for differentiation and by identifying what could be considered fair and appropriate targets. The Triptique Approach accomplished two things at the same time; it defined both the anthropogenic sources of global climate change and suggested a reasonable fair distribution of responsibilities among countries. It diagnosed the climate change problem in a politically acceptable way and provided a framework for differentiation of targets. Zartman has generalized this way of reaching agreement as "deductive"; first "identifying a formula that defines the problem in a resolvable way, and then translating the principles of the formula into specific details of implementation."⁶⁹

This case strongly suggests that it is necessary to negotiate national and collective targets together. Countries will not agree on a collective target as long as national implications and obligations are uncertain. In the case of the EC, a facilitator assisted in identifying the boundaries of the collective political willingness and an EC target reflecting an average of the member states' preferred EC targets served as a reference point when energy experts constructed asymmetrical national contributions. Potentially unproductive

⁶⁸ A recent Energy Advisory Panel in Britain took into account constraints existing at sector levels and assumed that emission reductions in the electricity supply industry were achievable. In the transportation sector, however, emission reductions would be much less achievable, "given the difficulty of curbing the use of the car and other vehicles." *Financial Times*, 28 November 1997, III.

⁶⁹ Zartman, 1992, 115. For the deductive approach, see Zartman and Barman, 1982, 89.

negotiations on a common target were thus avoided and alternatives to lowest common denominators and salient focal points were constructed.

The EC negotiations were conducted primarily among three distinct groups of member states. The first group, which, for lack of a better phrase, might be called the "rich and green" EC member states, consisted of Austria, Denmark, Finland, Germany, the Netherlands and Sweden.⁷⁰ Although they most likely would incur considerable abatement costs as a result, they set themselves ambitious domestic targets and wanted the EC to vigorously attack the global warming problem and play an environmental leadership role in the global climate process.⁷¹ In general, the "rich and green" member states quickly respond to perceived environmental problems by setting ambitious targets ahead of others. They subsequently try to pressure and persuade other member states to imitate their level of environmental protection.

Belgium, France, Italy, Luxembourg, and the UK might then be described as the "rich but not-so-green" member states.⁷² The cohesion countries, the poorer countries, constituted the third group. Significant variations in abatement costs largely explain the deviations in the case of climate policy – the Dutch, Finnish, French and Swedish targets – from this generally observed pattern in EC environmental negotiations. Noteworthy, although adding more political emphasis on climate protection, the accession of Austria, Finland and Sweden to the EC in 1995 did not significantly influence the differentiation process compared to earlier.

Regarding the differentiation process as such, rather than the structure of positions created by the member states, the previous section documented that the "rich and green" Netherlands and Germany played essential, but different, leadership roles. As I argued earlier, differentiation creates a significant conceptual and negotiation challenge as it is necessary to identify important national dissimilarities and suggest politically acceptable objective criteria as well as quantifiable indicators for the purpose of international comparison of countries. Thus, differentiation creates a demand for two distinct types of leadership; intellectual and entrepreneurial leadership.⁷³ The intellectual leader influences

⁷⁰ For analysis of the group of self-declared environmental leaders in EC environmental policy, see Skou Andersen and Liefferink 1997.

⁷¹ Grubb and Brackley 1991, 229.

⁷² Golub, for example, has concluded that the Netherlands, Germany and Denmark generally have pursued higher levels of environmental protection than France, UK, Belgium and Italy in the period prior to the 1987 Single European Act. Golub 1996, 6.

⁷³ For intellectual, entrepreneurial and structural leaders, see Young 1991.

how negotiators perceive and think about important issues on the negotiation table; the entrepreneurial leader is a skillful broker among actors and a shrewd designer of acceptable negotiation solutions. Evidently, the Netherlands acted as both intellectual and entrepreneurial leader in the EC differentiation process. Germany, however, played the role of structural leader, the third primary type of leadership. This leadership type stems from an actor's ability to provide the material resources, in this case considerable amounts of GHG emission reductions, which are necessary to achieve international agreement and reach a common target. In fact, Germany alone contributed approximately 253 million tons CO_2 necessary to reach the common EC target, or around eighty percent of the emissions (see Fig 1).⁷⁴



Figure 1. March 1997 EC negotiating position - percent distribution of CO_2 emissions reductions within the EC.

Evidently, bargaining power and political pressure play a significant role when a group of countries negotiate national targets in a differentiated environmental agreement. In the case of the EC, a symmetric climate agreement at the level of the lowest common denominator was unacceptable to major European powers. At the same time, they acknowledged that economic development inevitably would increase emissions in the

⁷⁴ For calculations, see Appendix 1.

cohesion countries, and urged these member states to increase energy efficiency. Lead countries will attempt to make others contribute their "fair" shares. Indeed, it is essential if laggards are able to block agreements.

The case documents different negotiation games within and among the three distinct groups of countries. By self-imposing stringent climate targets, Austria, Denmark, Germany and the Netherlands had in a sense their hands "tied". They shared an interest in providing prestigious environmental leadership at the EC and global level, and would undermine their political credibility as lead countries if they had lowered their targets during the negotiations. In addition, climate protection was a significant environmental issue in these member states and such a move would therefore be politically unattractive. Differentiation was a necessity in order to set an ambitious EC target, primarily based on Germany's contribution of emission reductions.

The "rich but not-so-green" member states, by contrast, had not committed themselves to specific targets beforehand. They mutually adjusted their targets over the negotiation process, and an entirely different group dynamic evolved as a result. As described, Belgium and the UK responded to the Dutch contribution, which they perceived to be insufficient, by adjusting their national targets downwards.⁷⁵ Within this group, a pronounced tendency to adjust obligations to the level set by the least ambitious member and adopt symmetrical obligations is observable. The "rich and green" member states did not succeed to persuade or pressure the "rich but not-so-green" member states. Comparison with the Presidency Proposal and the expectations of the Danish negotiators indicates that most of these member states did not shoulder their presumed fair share of the burden within the EC.

Some of the poorer member states, however, adopted more stringent targets as a result of the EC climate policy negotiations. The differentiation process influenced Spain's target in particular. Although rejecting the Dutch proposal, Portugal changed its national target from a 40 percent increase in 2000 to instead a 40 percent increase in 2010 (compared to 1990). The EC's scientific, technological and financial assistance to the cohesion countries makes them dependent on other member states and vulnerable to

⁷⁵ Member states' expectations about the EC Presidency role in general also might explain some of the observed behavior. As described, the Netherlands took full advantage of its Presidency to suggest an ambitious EC climate policy, but as the Netherlands' contribution did not meet the high expectations created by the Dutch strategy, the member states reacted even more critically toward the Dutch contribution.

political pressure, and this explains why the EC membership has made the cohesion countries adopt environmental standards that were more stringent than their own national measures.⁷⁶

Theories of international environmental negotiations and differentiation pay much attention to side-payments.⁷⁷ Linkages to non-climate issues were not made, however, nor were package deals constructed in order to make less climate ambitious member states raise their targets. "This is not how Brussels works", responded a German negotiator when asked about the use of linkages to other EC policy areas and package deals in the negotiations.⁷⁸ As well, the leader countries did not apply any form of direct sanctions or economic incentives, but instead attempted to persuade, pressure and shame others into following their policy. Although some member states believed that the Structural Funds and the Cohesion Fund would cover some future abatement costs incurred by the poorer member states, these funding possibilities were never explicitly addressed and did not influence the EC negotiations. While it was expected that each member state contributed according to its ability to reduce, the cohesion countries were treated more leniently. Fairness mattered and member states made comparisons between and within groups of comparable countries.

Despite different levels of concerns among the member states, there was strong agreement that the EC would have to deal with global climate change both internally and through international leadership. As mentioned, especially Germany, the Netherlands and Denmark, and DG XI, vehemently stressed the need for establishing an ambitious EC climate policy. Negotiators from member states were thus under considerable pressure to reach an agreement, especially after environment ministers failed to reach agreement in December. Early failures and the deadline created by the pace of the global negotiation process both were essential when an agreement was finally reached in March 1997.⁷⁹

⁷⁶ See, for example, Golub 1996, 3.

⁷⁷ See, for example, Barrett 1995; Botteon and Carraro 1995; Parson and Zeckhauser 1995; Sebenius 1995.

⁷⁸ Personal interview with German government official, Bonn, 10 October 1997. In general, intra-sectoral package deals are quite widespread and side payments crucial for southern member states, but inter-sectoral package deals, linkages and side-payments to northern states are not used. Golub 1996.

⁷⁹ Personal interview with Dutch government official, 22 May 1997. Personal interview with Spanish government official, Madrid, 8 October 1997.

The Commission did not exert a strong direct influence over the differentiation process.⁸⁰ As described earlier, DG XI advocated an ambitious climate policy and Commission officials involved in renewables and energy-efficient technologies seemed favorable towards this policy. However, DG XVII opposed an ambitious policy and energy models in DG XVII indicated that implementation of an aggressive climate policy most likely would create significant economic costs. The multi-sectoral climate issue divided the Commission, especially DG XI and DG XVII.⁸¹

The leader countries were concerned about the conflicts within the Commission.⁸² However, they could not influence the internal politics of the Commission. Although they would had preferred that the Commission had played a much more progressive role and exploited its potential for influence better, they saw no way to interfere with such supranational power struggles. In general, DG XI did not seem closely involved in the global climate change issue, but gave higher priority to local and regional environmental problems. Since 1992, the Commission had played a less active role in the climate policy area.⁸³

Nonetheless, by providing energy studies that created a backdrop to the negotiations, the Commission played a constructive role. Compared to earlier, more knowledge existed about the opportunities and barriers for achieving emissions reduction in member states, especially the poorer ones. The Triptique Approach benefited from improvements in EC energy modeling achieved since the early 1990s, especially *European Energy to 2020*. But the Commission did not have the flexibility needed in order to tailor an approach to EC burden sharing within a short period of time. Indeed, a Dutch high-level official emphasized: "The Commission is much too bureaucratic and slow-moving to play such a role."⁸⁴

⁸⁰ For an overview of the DGs involved in EC climate change policy, see Huber 1995, 26.

⁸¹ A communication from the Energy Directorate clearly illustrated the differences of opinion within the Commission. See European Commission, 12 May 1997, 1, 2, 15.

⁸² Personal interview with Danish government official, Copenhagen, 29 April 1997.

⁸³ Wagner 1997.

⁸⁴ Personal interview with Dutch government official, 22 May 1997.

10 BUILDING DIFFERENTIATED CLIMATE REGIMES

Possibilities for differentiation will greatly depend on the number and characteristics of countries. In general, the larger and more diversified the group of countries, the more necessary and more complicated it will be to differentiate. Moreover, there will be more interests to accommodate within larger groups.

Regarding climate negotiations within the EC and the burden sharing issue, two general observations are relevant. First, the question of responsibility for the historical cumulative GHG emissions, i.e. the historical emissions added over time, played no role in the negotiations. Second, neither was the issue of adverse climate change impacts (e.g. flooding of coastal areas or ecosystem damage due to temperature increase) significant. Developing countries, however, mostly focus on the historical GHG emissions and the adverse effects of climate change in developing countries. Climate negotiations will obviously be more complex if these asymmetries play a role.

Countries will follow either a deductive or a less systematic inductive approach to differentiation. Below I focus on the deductive approach and industrialized countries.

Diagnosis in the prenegotiation phase is needed to make the climate issue negotiable

The three initial steps in a differentiation process are to set a common target, develop a conceptual framework for differentiation, and choose criteria for comparison of contributions of countries. Before that, in the prenegotiation phase, it will be necessary to define the climate problem so that it is negotiable and potentially resolvable.⁸⁵ It is usually in the prenegotiation phase that analytical models can help bargainers develop the overall formula that forms the basis for agreement.⁸⁶ Analytical models can thus help "diagnosing" the problem, but are unlikely to be significant once the problem definition or formula is established. Governments will be the key actors when contributions are distributed among countries.

⁸⁵ For prenegotiation, see Stein 1989.

⁸⁶ Sebenius 1981, 78-79.

Quantified indicators of national circumstances will be preferable to technical formulas and rules

It appears very useful to develop quantified indicators of national circumstances. It is possible to develop reasonably useful energy indicators for a relatively small, homogenous group, such as the EC. It might be quite difficult for a larger, more heterogeneous group, such as the OECD.⁸⁷

The EU-differentiation process shows that a few, intuitively appealing quantitative indicators at the level of economic sectors can usefully guide negotiations on differentiated targets. Proposals for differentiation will be most useful when they are thoroughly prepared, apply reasonable energy indicators based on reliable, available and comparable data, build upon detailed knowledge of national circumstances et cetera.⁸⁸ DG XI's proposal for differentiation did not generate sufficient attention because it, in addition to being tabled too early in the EC negotiation process, was technically inadequate. Energy models and energy scenarios will stimulate learning among negotiators and, because they might shape common perceptions of policy opportunities and constraints, could facilitate climate negotiations.

It seems that quantitative indicators of national circumstances might assist negotiators more than mathematical formulas and burden sharing rules.⁸⁹ First and foremost, mathematical and technical rules seem unable to take into account all significant national circumstances.⁹⁰ Because countries quite simply are too different, it might be impossible to determine national contributions on the basis of a set of quantified indicators. Moreover, it is evident that rules cannot take into account unquantifiable factors, for example foreign policy goals, which countries care about in climate negotiations.

⁸⁷ See Ybema 1997.

⁸⁸ For a discussion of the usefulness of various types of energy and CO_2 indicators to decision-makers, see Schipper and Haas 1997.

⁸⁹ One prominent example is the proposal Norway made in the protocol negotiations. The proposal is a multi-criteria indicator combining and attaching weights to three individual indicators (CO₂ equivalent emissions per unit of GDP, CO₂ equivalent emissions per person, and GDP per person). The formula is defined as $Y_i = A [x(B_i/B) + y(C_i/C) + z(D_i/D)]$. Y_i is the percentage reduction of emissions for country *i*. The relation of B_i to B is CO₂ equivalent emissions per GDP unit for country *i* relative to the OECD average, the relation of C_i to C is GDP per person in country *i* relative to the OECD average, and the relation of D_i to D is CO₂ equivalent emissions per person in country *i* relative to the OECD average. A is a scaling factor, while coefficients *x*, *y* and *z* are weights, which add up to a total of 1. Norway indicated that more weight should be put on the C_i/C indicator. See FCCC/AGBM/1996/10, 19 November 1996, 10.

 $^{^{90}}$ All negotiators interviewed for the purpose of this report were quite skeptical about the usefulness of highly formalized burden sharing rules. However, there was some interest in using single indicators, especially CO₂ emissions per capita, to develop proposals for national contributions of emission reductions.

Furthermore, differentiation by technical formula could greatly complicate negotiations by increasing their technical and scientific content.⁹¹ "They [burden sharing formulas and rules] never give us a number", explained a German negotiator. "We need a percent!"⁹² Differentiation will in the end be decided through a political process, not a technical one, involving pressures and offers. For such reasons, it seems likely that countries will prefer a more flexible approach of negotiating differentiated targets directly with others.

Start early but wait for "ripe moments" and policy windows

National negotiators in the EC generally were cautiously optimistic regarding possibilities for differentiation. It should be underlined, however, that the member states had tried for more than five years to adopt an EC climate policy before they managed to work out a differentiated arrangement. Good knowledge of national circumstances is necessary in order to develop quantifiable indicators. Developing and collecting relevant knowledge and data takes time, although it is essential.⁹³

Time will also be necessary for sufficient awareness and pressure to build up. The global climate problem is not yet considered an essential environmental problem, although awareness of the problem presently is increasing. Increasing awareness will influence national policies and, if societies' preparedness to pay for climate protection increases, expand the range of reduction options.

Last but not least, it will be important to seize the "ripe moment" for differentiation of targets.⁹⁴ Although their occurrence is notoriously difficult to identify beforehand, negotiators should use policy windows and "ripe moments" to table target proposals.⁹⁵

⁹¹A former chief US negotiator criticizes using formulas in climate negotiations: "This approach would entail extremely difficult and potentially adversarial negotiations if differentiated targets were to be negotiated on a formula-basis, i.e., by weighting some or all of the factors above [emission per capita, emissions per unit of GDP, GDP per capita etc.] and adjusting the basic target accordingly. Each country would seek to include the factors and formula weights that advantaged it (and disadvantaged its trading partners). One can imagine groups of negotiators sitting around with computers trying to calculate the relative impacts of different proposed factors and weighting coefficients. It would probably also be one of the least transparent approaches to determining national commitments." Reinstein 1997, 7. Germany has likewise criticized that "the selection of indicators as well as their relative weight is highly arbitrary, with results differing substantially." German Delegation, 6 March 1996.

⁹² Personal interview with German government official, Bonn, 10 October 1997.

⁹³ Because there were no parallels at the OECD level, and therefore no politically feasible proposals for differentiation were introduced into the global negotiating process, the EC proposed a symmetrical climate agreement in Kyoto for non-EC OECD countries.

⁹⁴ For a discussion of 'ripe moments' in negotiations, see Zartman, 1992, 114-15.

⁹⁵ For discussion of policy windows in the domestic politics context which can be extended to the international level, see Kingdon, 1984.

Even highly useful indicators and skillful leaders will fail if the climate change problem is attracting little attention among governments. Negotiation is both an art and a science, and negotiators will have to act on intuition and rely on their training and experience when hoping to take advantage of a "ripe moment" for reaching agreement.⁹⁶

11 CONCLUSIONS

The question of how much individual member states should contribute to the EC climate policy has been important ever since the global warming issue appeared for the first time in the EC context. This report has focused on how differentiated national targets are developed, how alternatives to lowest common denominators and influential focal points are constructed, how model-based indicators can establish the premises for negotiations, and how differentiated targets can create a bargaining space. While the total reduction target may be a salient focal point, national obligations are results of negotiations mediated by energy models and cost assessment studies.

Both domestic and international political processes influence national climate policy. Because this report primarily focussed on the EC process, less attention was paid to how countries develop their domestic targets, or why countries reacted as they did towards the targets developed in the differentiation process. These issues need to be examined further. It is evident, however, that the Triptique Approach influenced member states significantly, in particular the cohesion countries. The Netherlands acted as an intellectual and entrepreneurial leader, while Germany was a strong structural leader.

The report shows that three factors strongly influence climate policy targets, namely ambitiousness of environmental policy (the "greenness" of a country), wealth, and costs of environmental protection - in this case GHG abatement costs. This is not surprising. It is less clear, however, how much these factors individually mattered when the EC member states agreed to differentiate their commitments. These questions should be examined further. It will in addition be necessary to learn more about how other economic and trade interests influence differentiation of climate policy targets. Exporters of fossil fuels fear that they will loose income because the demand for fossil fuels is

⁹⁶ Raiffa, 1982.

expected to decline as a consequence of international climate policy; exporters of environment-friendly technologies and know-how, by contrast, view climate protection as a business opportunity. It is highly likely that also such economic aspects influence policy targets and state positions in international negotiations.⁹⁷

This report draws upon a number of personal interviews conducted in 1997-1998 with researchers, government officials in Denmark, Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain and Sweden, and officials of the European Community. I am grateful for helpful comments from Knut H. Alfsen. In addition, I want to thank Arild Underdal for his many valuable suggestions.

⁹⁷ Germany, for example, controls about 20 percent of the global export market for environmenttechnologies worth about US\$ 3 billion a year. *International Herald Tribune*, 17 November 1997, 1.

12 APPENDIX 1

| Member states | CO ₂ emissions (1990) million tonnes | Reduction target, in % (reference year 1990) | CO ₂ emissions million tonnes | CO ₂ emissions (% of EU wide target) |
|-----------------|---|---|---|---|
| Germany | 1013 | -25 | -253,25 | -81,49 |
| UK | 577 | -10 | -57,7 | -18,57 |
| Italy | 436,3 | -7 | -30,541 | -9,83 |
| The Netherlands | 151,8 | -10 | -15,18 | -4,88 |
| Austria | 59,2 | -25 | -14,8 | -4,76 |
| Denmark | 52,1 | -25 | -13,025 | -4,19 |
| Belgium | 114,5 | -10 | -11,45 | -3,68 |
| Luxembourg | 13,3 | -30 | -3,99 | -1,28 |
| Finland | 53,9 | 0 | 0 | 0,00 |
| France | 366,5 | 0 | 0 | 0,00 |
| Sweden | 61,3 | 5 | +3,065 | +0,99 |
| Ireland | 30,72 | 15 | +4,608 | +1,48 |
| Portugal | 42,5 | 40 | +17 | +5,47 |
| Greece | 86,1 | 30 | +25,83 | +8,31 |
| Spain | 227,3 | 17 | +38,641 | +12,43 |
| Total | 3285,52 | - | -310,792 | 100,00 |

Source: European Commission, Communication, 1996.

13 REFERENCES

- Alfsen, Knut H., Lasse Ringius and Asbjørn Torvanger. 1997. "Climate Change Negotiations: Burden Sharing and Cost-Effective Implementation Mechanisms and Protocols. Conference Summary." *TemaNord 1997: 562*. Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Barrett, Scott. 1995. "Heterogeneous International Environmental Agreements." Nota di Lavoro 79.95. Fondazione Eni Enrico Mattei.
- Blok, K. and G.J.M. Phylipsen. 1996. "Common European Community Policies and Measures for Greenhouse Gas Emission Limitation and Reduction." Utrecht, Netherlands: Department of Science, Technology and Society.
- Blok, K., G.J.M. Phylipsen, and J.W. Bode. 1997. "The Triptique Approach: Burden differentiation of CO₂ emission reduction among European Community member states." Utrecht, the Netherlands: Department of Science, Technology and Society, Utrecht University.
- Botteon, Michele and Carlo Carraro, "Burden-Sharing and Coalition Stability in Environmental Negotiations with Asymmetric Countries", Nota di Lavoro 78.95, Fondazione Eni Enrico Mattei.
- Council of the European Union. 7 March 1997. Community Strategy on Climate Change: Council Conclusions. Document 6450/97.
- Council of the European Union. 19/20 June 1997. Press Release 9132/97, 2017th Council Meeting, Environment. Luxembourg.
- *Earth Negotiations Bulletin* 12(76) 13 December 1997. "Report of the Third Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: 1-11 December 1997."
- European Commission, DG XVII, *Energy in Europe. European energy to 2020. A Scenario Approach.* Luxembourg: Office for Official Publication, 1996.
- European Commission. Discussion paper for Dublin workshop 2/3 September 1996. Elements for an EU reduction target and burden sharing among Member States. No date.
- European Commission. 1996. Communication from the Commission under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change: Article 4.2. (b) (c) and Article 12. 11 June 1996. COM(96) 217 final. Brussels, Belgium.
- European Commission. 12 May 1997. The Energy Dimension of Climate Change. Commission Communication to the European Parliament, the Council, the Economical and Social Committee and the Committee of Regions. Brussels, Belgium.
- European Commission. 1 November 1997. Climate Change The EU Approach for Kyoto. Commission Communication to the Council, the European Parliament, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Brussels, Belgium.
- Europe Daily Bulletin, No. 6835, 18 October 1996.
- Europe Daily Bulletin, No. 6870, 9 December 1996.
- FCCC/AGBM/1996/10. 19 November1996. Synthesis of Proposals by Parties.
- FCCC/CP/1995/7/Add.1. 6 June 1995. Report of the Conference of the Parties On Its First Session, Held at Berlin from 28 March to 7 April 1995. Addendum. Part Two: Action Taken by the Conference of the Parties at Its First Session.
- FCCC/CP/1997/2, 7 November 1997. Adoption of A Protocol or Another Legal Instrument: Fulfillment of the Berlin Mandate. Annex B.

- FCCC/IDR.1/ESP 10 July 1996. Report on the in-depth review of the national communication of Spain.
- Gehring, Thomas, 1994. Dynamic international regimes: Institutions for international environmental governance. Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang.
- German Delegation, 6 March 1996. Statement by Cornelia Quennet-Thielen. Ad Hoc Group on the Berlin Mandate, Third Session, Geneva, 5-8 March 1996.
- Golub, Jonathan. 1996. "Why Did They Sign? Explaining EC Environmental Policy Bargaining." *EUI Working Paper* no. 96/52.
- Grubb, Michael. 1990. "The Greenhouse Effect: Negotiating Targets." *International Affairs* 66(1): 67-89.
- Grubb, Michael and Peter Brackley, 1991. "Greenhouse Responses in the United Kingdom and European Community: Will Britannia Waive the Rules?" In *Energy Policies and the Greenhouse Effect. Vol. 2: Country studies and technical options*, M. Grubb, Peter Brackley, Michéle Ledic, Ajay Mathur, Steve Rayner, Jeremy Russell, and Akira Tanabe. Vermont, USA: Dartmouth Publishing Company.
- Haigh, Nigel. 1997. "Climate Change Policies and Politics in the European Community." In *Politics of climate change: A European perspective*, edited by Tim O'Riordan and Jill Jäger, 155-185. London: Routledge.
- Héritier, Adrienne, Christoph Knill and Susanne Mingers. 1996. *Ringing the changes in Europe: Regulatory competition and redefinition of the state. Britain, France, Germany.* Berlin: Walter de Gruyter.
- Huber, Michael. 1995. "Leadership in the EU Climate Policy: Innovative Policy Making in Policy Networks." Second revised version, presented at the workshop on EU Environmental Policy and the New Nordic Member States, at Sandbjerg Manor, Denmark, 6-8 April 1995.
- Jachtenfuchs, Markus and Michael Huber. 1993. "Institutional Learning in the European Community: The Response to the Greenhouse Effect." In *European integration and environmental policy*, edited by J.D. Liefferink, P.D. Lowe and A.P.J. Mol, 36-58. London: Belhaven Press.
- Kingdon, John W. 1984. *Agendas, alternatives, and public policies*. Boston: Little, Brown and Co.
- Laffan, Bridgid. 1997. *The finances of the European community*. Houndmills: Macmillan Press.
- Letter from Ministry for Housing, Planning and the Environment. 27 January 1997. The Hague, the Netherlands.
- Macrory, Richard and Martin Hession. 1996. "The European Community and Climate Change." In *Politics of climate change: A European perspective*, edited by Tim O'Riordan and Jill Jäger, 106-54. London: Routledge.
- Memo. No date. Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Midttun, Atle, editor. 1997. European electricity systems in transition: A comparative analysis of policy and regulation in western Europe. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Ministerial Declaration. 1987. Second International Conference on the Protection of the North Sea. London.
- Parson, Edward A. and Richard J. Zeckhauser. 1995. "Equal Measures or Fair Burdens: Negotiating Environmental Treaties in an Unequal World." In *Shaping national responses to climate change*, edited by Henry Lee, 81-114. Wash. DC: Island Press.

- Phylipsen, G.J.M. and K. Blok 1996. National Circumstances of EU Member States Related to Greenhouse Gas Emission Limitation and Reduction. Utrecht, Netherlands: Department of Science, Technology and Society.
- Raiffa, Howard 1982. *The art and science of negotiation*. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Reinstein, Robert A. "The Road to Kyoto." 1997. Paper prepared for the Nordic Council of Ministers Conference on "Burden Sharing and Cost-Effective Implementation Mechanisms and Protocols" held in May 1997 in Oslo.
- Ringius, Lasse 1992. "Radwaste Disposal and the Global Ocean Dumping Convention: The Politics of International Environmental Regimes", Ph.D. thesis, the European University Institute, Florence, Italy.
- Ringius, Lasse Asbjørn Torvanger, and Elisabeth Meze 1996, "Climate Policy, Burden Sharing and the Nordic Countries". *TemaNord 1996: 572.* (Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Ruijgrok, Elisabeth and Frans Oosterhuis. 1997. *Energy subsidies in western Europe*. Amsterdam: Free University, Institute for Environmental Studies.
- Sebenius, James K. 1981. "The Computer as Mediator: Law of the Sea and Beyond." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 1(1): 77-95.
- Schipper, Lee and Reinhard Haas 1997. "The Political Relevance of Energy and CO₂ Indicators – An Introduction." *Energy Policy* 25(7-9): 639-649.
- Sebenius, James K. 1995. "Overcoming Obstacles to a Successful Climate Convention." In *Shaping national responses to climate change*, edited by Henry Lee, 41-79. Wash. DC: Island Press.
- Shelling, Thomas C. 1960, 1980. *The strategy of conflict*. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Skou Andersen, Mikael and Duncan Liefferink, editors. 1997. *European* environmental policy: The pioneers. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Stein, Janice G. 1989. Editor. *Getting to the table: The processes of international prenegotiation*. Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press.
- Wagner, Jay P. 1997. "The Climate Change Policy of the European Community." In *International politics and climate change: key issues and critical actors*, edited by Gunnar Fermann, 297-340. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- U.S. Congress. 1994. Office of Technology Assessment, Climate Treaties and Models: Issues in the International Management of Climate Change. OTA-BP-ENV-128. Washington DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Ybema, J.R. 1997. "Differentiation of CO₂ Targets for the OECD Countries Based on the Triptych Approach." ECN Policy Studies. Draft, July 1997.
- Young, Oran R. 1991. "Political Leadership and Regime Formation: On the Development of Institutions in International Society." *International Organization* 45: 281-309.
- Zartman, I.William 1992. "International Environmental Negotiation: Challenges for Analysis and Practice". *Negotiation Journal* (8): 113-23.
- Zartman, I. William and Maureen R. Berman. 1982. *The practical negotiator*. NH: Yale University Press.

This is CICERO

CICERO was established by the Norwegian government in April 1990 as a non-profit organization associated with the University of Oslo.

The research concentrates on:

- International negotiations on climate agreements. The themes of the negotiations are distribution of costs and benefits, information and institutions.
- Global climate and regional environment effects in developing and industrialized countries. Integrated assessments include sustainable energy use and production, and optimal environmental and resource management.
- Indirect effects of emissions and feedback mechanisms in the climate system as a result of chemical processes in the atmosphere.

Contact details:

CICERO P.O. Box. 1129 Blindern N-0317 OSLO NORWAY

 Telephone: +47 22 85 87 50

 Fax:
 +47 22 85 87 51

 Web:
 www.cicero.uio.no

 E-mail:
 admin@cicero.uio.no

